Contents lists available at ScienceDirect





Science of the Total Environment

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Citizen science approaches for water quality measurements

Sara Blanco Ramírez^{a,*}, Ilja van Meerveld^a, Jan Seibert^{a,b}

^a Department of Geography, University of Zurich, Zürich, Switzerland

^b Department of Aquatic Sciences and Assessment, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden

HIGHLIGHTS

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

Cost

Accuracy

00

0

- Review of water quality monitoring methods in citizen science projects
 Spatial and temporal resolution of sam-
- pling is highly heterogenous.
- Evaluation of methods in term of data accuracy, training, cost, and logistics

ARTICLE INFO

Editor: Damia Barcelo

Keywords: Volunteer water quality monitoring Spatial temporal resolution Methods Literature review

ABSTRACT

Citizen science has become a widely used approach in water quality studies. Although there are literature reviews about citizen science and water quality assessments, an overview of the most commonly used methods and their strengths and weaknesses is still lacking. Therefore, we reviewed the scientific literature on citizen science for surface water quality assessments and examined the methods and strategies used by the 72 studies that fulfilled our search criteria. Special attention was given to the parameters monitored, the monitoring tools, and the spatial and temporal resolution of the data collected in these studies. In addition, we discuss the advantages and disadvantages of the different approaches used in water quality assessments and their potential to complement traditional hydrological monitoring and research.

Contents

1.	Introduction
2.	Methodology
3.	Results
	3.1. Most frequently used approaches for water quality monitoring in citizen science initiatives.
	3.2. Sampling frequency and spatial extent
	3.3. Training and data quality control. \ldots
4.	Discussion
	4.1. Evaluation of the different methods
	4.2. Spatial and temporal resolution of citizen science water quality data
5.	Concluding remarks

* Corresponding author at: Department of Geography, University of Zurich, Winterthurerstrasse 190, 8057 Zürich, Switzerland. *E-mail address:* sara.blanco@geo.uzh.ch (S.B. Ramírez).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.165436

Received 12 April 2023; Received in revised form 13 June 2023; Accepted 8 July 2023 Available online 09 July 2023

0048-9697/© 2023 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

CRediT authorship contribution statement	9
Funding	9
Data availability	9
Declaration of competing interest	9
Acknowledgements	9
References of the 72 papers included in the review.	9
References	11

1. Introduction

There is an increasing interest in public participation approaches for hydrological studies and hydrological (water quantity and quality) data collection (Buytaert et al., 2014; Nardi et al., 2021; Njue et al., 2019). The term citizen science is frequently used for this approach, but it includes any 'public participation in scientific research' (Eitzel et al., 2017; Shirk et al., 2012). Several review papers have been written on public participation in hydrologic research and water monitoring in the past decade (Buytaert et al., 2014; Metcalfe et al., 2022; Nardi et al., 2021; Njue et al., 2019; Walker et al., 2020). They mainly focused on data accuracy and data comparison studies (Albus et al., 2019) or the success factors of these initiatives (San Llorente Capdevila et al., 2020). These reviews provide an overview of the state of the art and highlight that in most projects focuses on data collection, and that most water-related citizen science projects focus on water quality (Buytaert et al., 2014; Njue et al., 2019; Walker et al., 2020).

Involving the general public in water quantity and quality monitoring is considered beneficial for different reasons. One of the main reasons is the potential to collect data at larger spatial and temporal scales than is possible with traditional scientific methods (Buytaert et al., 2014; Hadj-Hammou et al., 2017; Hoyer and Canfield, 2021; Lottig et al., 2014; Quinlivan et al., 2020a). Citizen science is also recognized as an opportunity to achieve the monitoring standards needed to reach the sustainable development goals related to water (Bishop et al., 2020; Fritz et al., 2019; Hegarty et al., 2021; Quinlivan et al., 2020b,a). Citizen science can, furthermore, enhance scientific literacy, raise environmental awareness, and build community capacity for environmental protection (Au et al., 2000; Bishop et al., 2020; Kimura and Kinchy, 2016).

Although citizen science in water quantity and quality studies is still relatively new (i.e., it has become part of the peer-reviewed literature only in the last ten years; Njue et al., 2019), public participation in water quality research is much older, especially in the United States (Albus et al., 2019; Hoyer and Canfield, 2021). For example, the Izaak Walton League (1922) was formed by anglers who organized themselves and initiated a water quality assessment of the Mississippi River to protect their rivers (Firehock and West, 1995; Kinchy et al., 2014). The Clean Water Act, a federal policy in the United States established in 1972, encouraged that data collected by the general public was taken into account in the decisionmaking process regarding water pollution (Deutsch and Ruiz-Córdova, 2015; Field-Juma and Roberts-Lawler, 2021; Stepenuck and Genskow, 2018). Many of the current water quality monitoring networks were established by citizens and non-governmental organizations because of actual water pollution problems. For example, different monitoring networks have emerged around shale gas extraction in Pennsylvania, United States, because of its consequences on water resources (Brasier et al., 2017; Jalbert et al., 2014; Jalbert and Kinchy, 2015; Kinchy et al., 2014, 2016). Community monitoring in Argentina, Peru, Colombia and Ecuador has been driven by the environmental impacts of mining activity, especially their impacts on river water quality (Ulloa et al., 2020; Vázquez, 2019). Elsewhere, studies are addressing the impacts of eutrophication. For example, 400 volunteers collected data over three years on the Huangpu River in China (Zhang et al., 2017) and 600 participants monitored 80 streams and rivers in Brazil (Cunha et al., 2017a,b). Other studies are concerned with water quality for recreational activities (e.g., swimming; Valois et al., 2020). More recently, studies explore citizen science approaches for plastic pollution monitoring, observing macro- and microplastics in freshwater environments (Cook et al., 2021; Forrest et al., 2019; Rech et al., 2015; van Emmerik et al., 2020). The value of the data collected in these studies for community empowerment, strengthening environmental awareness and protection, as well as providing scientific evidence of pollution hotspots cannot be denied (Mccauley, 2017).

The wide range of objectives of citizen-based water quality monitoring projects means that they differ in focus, methods used, and sampling frequency. Some projects have organized monitoring campaigns for several years (Deutsch and Ruiz-Córdova, 2015; Hoyer et al., 2012; Hoyer and Canfield, 2021), others focused on a one-time water quality assessment (e.g., Flores Rojas and Huamantinco Araujo, 2017; Gérin-Lajoie et al., 2018; Quinlivan et al., 2020a). The method used to obtain water quality data does not only depend on the parameter of interest but also on the number of volunteers involved and the budget and duration of the project. This can, in turn, affect the spatial and temporal resolution of the data and its value for different hydrological studies. While, sensors can be used to obtain high-precision and high-accuracy data at a few sites (e.g. 12 community members used a multiparameter water quality meter at three sampling sites (Rivas et al., 2020), one-time sampling campaigns with many volunteers often use cheaper methods that lead to a more extensive spatial coverage but data that has a lower precision (e.g. Muenich et al. (2016) describe a study where 250 participants took physical and chemical measurements using colorimetric test strips at 206 sites). The former is potentially more useful to study changes in water quality over time, while the latter may be more beneficial to determine the spatial pattern in water quality or to find pollution hotspots.

For citizen science projects, it is recommended to keep equipment and sampling procedures simple to allow more people to participate and keep participants motivated (Firehock and West, 1995; Rae et al., 2019; Rambonnet et al., 2019; Walker et al., 2020). Simple methods may also reduce errors (Rose et al., 2016). However, when data are collected following a simplified version of the traditional method, an alternative method, or are not collected by professional scientists, the data are often not trusted and their quality is questioned (Riesch and Potter, 2014). Therefore, the accuracy of citizen science data has received special attention in the scientific literature (Conrad et al., 2011; Jalbert and Kinchy, 2015; Riesch and Potter, 2014). A large fraction of the scientific literature about public participation in water quality monitoring focuses on the accuracy of the data. In most of these studies, the data collected by the public are checked against traditional measurements (Quinlivan et al., 2020b). These studies provide a large and diverse body of evidence that data collected by the public can be accurate and reliable (Albus et al., 2019; Quinlivan et al., 2020b), and that these data can be useful and valuable as a baseline for a general understanding of water quality dynamics (Loperfido et al., 2010; McGoff et al., 2017; Metzger and Lendvay, 2006; Penrose and Call, 1995; Pinto et al., 2020; Shahady and Boniface, 2018; Njue et al., 2021; Xu et al., 2017). However, despite this large body of evidence regarding the quality of citizen science data, there is still a need to determine data quality for large and long-term studies (Albus et al., 2019).

The spatial and temporal distribution of citizen science data has received considerably less attention in the literature than the accuracy of the measurements or "professional vs. citizen" comparisons (McGoff et al., 2017; Millar et al., 2018). However, the spatial and temporal sampling resolution are also important aspects that determine the potential value of the data for further analyses. When and how often the

measurements are taken also influences data accuracy or quality, and can be a reason for disagreements between the data collected by citizens and specialists (Hoyer and Canfield, 2021). Thus, this aspect seems equally relevant as the methodology and direct data accuracy assessments. This literature review, therefore, focuses on the different approaches, methods and equipment used within public participation in surface water quality monitoring. The aim is to better understand the different water quality measurement strategies used by citizen science projects and to describe their potential strengths and weaknesses. More specifically, this review looks at water quality related citizen science initiatives from a hydrological perspective to understand how these projects and the collected data can improve the understanding of surface water quality. In other words, we evaluated the sampling strategies, the type of data that are generated and their spatial and temporal resolution, in terms of their strengths and weaknesses for monitoring and scientific water quality studies. This is important because citizen science has the potential to complement existing (national) monitoring programs and can be a source of data in countries where there is a lack of data or limited access to data (e.g. Bishop et al., 2020; Hegarty et al., 2021). More specifically, we addressed the following questions:

- 1. What measurement approaches are most frequently used in citizen science initiatives for surface water quality monitoring?
- 2. What are the typical spatial and temporal resolution of the water quality data obtained by citizen science initiatives?
- 3. What are the advantages and disadvantages of the different approaches used in citizen science initiatives for water quality monitoring? (e.g., potential uncertainties for the different approaches, data accuracy, spatial-temporal resolution, requirement for training and userfriendliness, appeal, and cost).

2. Methodology

To search the literature to be used in this review, we used a systematic review approach. However, we used a traditional literature review approach for the analyses, evaluation and discussion of the studies. We reviewed peer-reviewed papers on citizen science and water quality published before 2022. To search for papers to be included in the review, we used eleven keywords (Table 1) and two academic databases: Web of Science and Scopus. Each database provides different options on subject or research areas; thus, we applied the search filters that we considered most suitable for each database. The search in Scopus was limited to the following subject areas: environmental sciences, social sciences, engineering, agricultural and biological sciences, computer science, and earth and planetary sciences. For the Web of Science search, we selected the following research fields: environmental sciences ecology, public environmental occupational health, water resources, toxicology, science technology other topics, geography, engineering, social sciences other topics, and computer science.

Table 1

List of keywords used in the search for relevant papers and the resulting number of papers in the two databases (Web of Science and Scopus) used in this study. After, excluding duplicates, grey literature, and conference or project reports, this search resulted in 262 unique peer-reviewed papers that were read in more detail.

List of keywords	Number of papers		
	Web of Science	Scopus	
"Citizen science*" AND "water quality"	378	239	
"Crowdsourcing*" AND "water quality"	40	30	
"Collaborative water quality research"	393	220	
"Collaborative water quality monitoring"	209	112	
"Community-based water quality monitoring"	212	136	
"Community-based water quality assessment"	248	118	
"Participatory science and water quality monitoring"	83	33	
"Participatory water quality monitoring"	151	117	
"Volunteer water quality monitoring"	323	115	
"Public participation and water quality monitoring"	340	121	
"Monitoreo comunitario del agua"	3	2	

Citizen science is only one of the terms that are frequently used in peerreviewed literature. It is related to various terms that refer to the different approaches and levels of participation in which people without a professional, scientific background are involved in scientific research (Eitzel et al., 2017; Shirk et al., 2012; Strasser et al., 2018). Our literature review examines all available peer-reviewed case studies regarding water quality data collection through public participation, regardless of whether citizen science or any other term describing public involvement in a specific task of scientific research is used. We are aware of the importance of recognizing and positioning the concepts used to name a practice, but an epistemological discussion of terms is beyond the scope of this review.

For the papers identified in the first stage, we read the title, abstract, and keywords to select only papers that included the chosen keywords (Table 1). If a paper had these keywords, it was saved in our reference management software (Mendeley). After this keyword search, duplicates, grey literature, and conference or project reports were removed manually from the database. The remaining 262 papers were read in more detail. In this second screening stage, we only selected papers that provided information about the actual public participation in water quality data collection. In other words, we only kept the papers that provided details about the type of data, methods, and the spatial and temporal resolution of the monitoring campaigns (Table 2). Since the interest of this review is on public participation in surface water quality monitoring, studies that focused on water quality in coastal areas, groundwater, or drinking water, water quality management, river or lake water levels, streamflow or rainfall data, and general papers about citizen science and water monitoring were excluded from the analysis. Another 15 studies in which public participation was limited to collecting and shipping water samples for laboratory analysis were also excluded. After this second screening, 72 papers remained in the database (see Appendix for the full list). For each of these papers, we extracted information on the methods used for water quality monitoring, including the temporal resolution and spatial extent of the data collection, and the duration of the monitoring program (Table 2).

Similarly to other literature reviews in the field, the studies indicate a disparity on their geographic distribution (Cunha et al., 2017a,b; Njue et al., 2019; Walker et al., 2020). The majority of the papers reported on projects in North America (48 %), Europe (15 %), and South America (13 %). There were few projects in Asia (13 %), and Australia (8 %). We included a keyword in Spanish (Table 1) to increase the number of studies from South America but only two out of the 72 suitable papers (2 %) were written in Spanish. Only two studies reported on citizen science

Table 2

Overview of the information extracted for each of the 72 reviewed papers and an example for one paper.

Recorded information Exa	Example			
Name of the project Glo	bal Water Watch			
Reference Flor	res-Díaz et al., 2018			
Keywords Titl	e: community-based monitoring,			
Abs	tract: water monitoring			
Location Mo	narch Butterfly Biosphere Reserve, Mexico			
Type of waterbody Riv	er			
Measured parameters Che	emical and physical			
Parameters War pH	ter temperature, hardness, alkalinity, dissolved oxygen, and turbidity			
Tools/Equipment Col	orimetric/titration kit (Alabama Water Monitoring			
Kit	– LaMotte).			
Public participation Dat	a collection			
Training Tra	ining session (These include a regular review of principles			
and	procedures for every test and monitoring session).			
Participants 25				
Participants profile Me	mbers of civil societies and local inhabitants			
Sampling sites 30				
Monitoring frequency Mo	nthly			
Duration 5 y	ears			
Spatial scale Cat	chment			
Data transmission No	information			
Data quality control Dat	a Quality Assurance Protocols certified by EPA			
Data accuracy No	information			



Fig. 1. Proportions of a) waterbodies studied, b) measurement approaches (data collection only, or data collection and sample collection and subsequent shipment to a laboratory, and c) the spatial scale of the reviewed studies.

projects in Africa (3%). Both projects (Mitroi et al., 2020; Njue et al., 2021) focused on water color and clarity.

3. Results

S.B. Ramírez et al.

3.1. Most frequently used approaches for water quality monitoring in citizen science initiatives

Most reviewed studies measured water quality in rivers and streams, followed by lakes. A few studies focused on measurements in multiple waterbodies (e.g., rivers, lakes, and ponds) (Fig. 1a). A quarter of the papers specified that measurements were taken along a particular river or stream, and 22 % of the studies focused at the catchment scale, ranging from 4 km² to 13,000 km². An almost similar percentage of studies (19 %) focused only on water quality in lakes. Fewer studies (10 %) monitored multiple waterbodies (e.g., urban ponds, streams and lakes) (Fig. 1c). In most of the selected studies, public participation focused on taking measurements directly. However, in some of the studies, participants also collected water samples and shipped them to a laboratory for further analysis (Fig. 1b).

There were different ways that the data were documented and reported in the reviewed studies. Most of the reviewed studies (65 %) did not provide details about this part of the study, but those that did either used paper forms or datasheets (14 %) or smartphone apps (19 %). Some apps are used worldwide (e.g., Fresh Water Watch app), while others were designed or selected according to the study specifications (e.g., Mitroi et al., 2020; Win et al., 2019). A few studies used text messages or postage-paid envelopes to submit the collected data (Sefton et al., 1984; Njue et al., 2021).

As already noted in previous reviews (e.g., Njue et al., 2019; San Llorente Capdevila et al., 2020), most studies did not focus on a single type of water quality parameter but instead covered a variety of parameters, including both chemical and physical aspects of water quality, or a biological water quality assessment. Most frequently, measurements were taken of water clarity, temperature, electrical conductivity, pH, dissolved oxygen, nitrate, phosphate, macroinvertebrates, and fecal coliform bacteria (*E. coli*) (Fig. 2).

The reviewed studies also used different types of equipment for the measurements (Fig. 3). Most of the studies used a colorimetric method (i.e., test strips; 30 %) that gives a concentration range, or titration kits (8 %) that provide more precise concentrations measurements, e.g., in mg/L. Water clarity and turbidity are typically measured using the Secchi tube. For example, the Alabama Water Quality Monitoring Kit used in Alabama and the Global Water Watch campaigns includes alkalinity, hardness,



Fig. 2. Frequency of the physical, chemical, and biological water quality parameters measured in rivers and lakes for the reviewed studies. NO3 refers to nitrate concentrations, PO4 to phosphate concentrations, and *E. coli* to the fecal coliform bacteria count.

S.B. Ramírez et al.



Fig. 3. Equipment and tools used by citizens for water quality monitoring in the reviewed studies.

dissolved oxygen, pH, and turbidity tests. The Fresh Water Watch kit includes test strips for pH, orthophosphate and nitrate measurements, and a calibrated Secchi tube for turbidity observations (14–240 NTU). NIWA's Stream Health Monitoring Assessment Kit (SHMAK) includes tests for visual clarity, temperature, conductivity, nitrate and phosphate concentrations, *E. coli* bacteria count, periphyton, macrophytes and benthic macroinvertebrates. Some test kits are widely used and were mentioned in several of the reviewed papers (e.g. LaMotte Alabama Water Quality Monitoring Kit, the New Zealand Stream Health Monitoring and Assessment Kit, the Kyoritsu PackTest used in the Fresh Water Watch studies or the Hach Nitrate and Nitrite Test Strips or the Alfa water quality test kit).

Portable and more sophisticated equipment has been used in fewer studies (18 % of the papers) (e.g., Hanna pocket pH meter, YSI Model 51B Oxygen Meter, Hach Method - APHA† Method, hand-held Lohand Biological conductivity meter, thermistor, bathyscope, YSI Pro Plus). For example, in the study Quinlivan et al. (2020a), 28 participants measured nitrate and orthophosphate concentrations and chemical oxygen demand (COD) using the Kyoritsu Pack Test and electrical conductivity using a hand-held Lohand Biological conductivity meter for two sites in southwest Ireland. For benthic macroinvertebrate monitoring, participants used a Surber sampler with a mesh net (aquatic net) to collect benthic macroinvertebrates and afterward help with the taxonomic identification, following simplified guides. In some of the reviewed studies, the participants created taxon abundance and richness metrics (Krabbenhofta and Kashian, 2020; Flores Rojas and Huamantinco Araujo, 2017; Fore et al., 2001; Moffett and Neale, 2015; Shahady and Boniface, 2018) or simple tolerance metrics (e.g., Pinto et al. (2020)).

3.2. Sampling frequency and spatial extent

There is no clear pattern in terms of the spatial and temporal resolution of the measurements in the reviewed studies. The number of sampling sites ranged from one (Flores Rojas and Huamantinco Araujo, 2017) to >1600 (Brooks et al., 2019). The mean and median were 98 and 21, respectively (interquartile range:7–72). Most studies (28 %) had a monthly or twiceper-month measurement frequency (Fig. 4). In one out of eight studies, measurements were taken weekly (12 %; Boylen et al., 2004; Menon et al., 2021; Mitroi et al., 2020; Valois et al., 2020; Win et al., 2019), but there were also studies with only four measurements per year (8 %; Field-Juma and Roberts-Lawler, 2021; Miguel-Chinchilla et al., 2019; Shahady and Boniface, 2018). For 38 % of the papers no measurement frequency was reported.

The objective of 'snapshots' or 'water blitz' events is to collect as many measurements within one day as possible (Flores Rojas and Huamantinco Araujo, 2017; Gérin-Lajoie et al., 2018; Quinlivan et al., 2020a). The number of measurement sites for these types of events reported in the reviewed papers varied from one (Flores-Díaz et al., 2018, where many participants took measurements at the same site) to 206 (Muenich et al., 2016) sites. The median number of sites was 6 (average: 40). Blitzes may occur only once (e.g., Flores Rojas & Huamantinco Araujo, 2002; Quinlivan et al., 2020a) but can also be repeated annually over 10 or 13 years (e.g., Křeček et al., 2018; Moffett and Neale, 2015; Rich, 2019).

The monitoring period for the reviewed studies generally ranged from 1 to 5 years, but some of the reviewed studies took measurements over longer periods, e.g., 10 to 15 years (Arrigo, 2011; Blake and Rhanor, 2020; Brooks et al., 2019; Hoyer and Canfield, 2021; Křeček et al., 2018; Moffett and Neale, 2015; Rich, 2019). For water clarity in lakes, records can be 30 or 70 years long (Bruhn and Soranno, 2005; Canfield et al., 2016; Lottig et al., 2014; Safford and Peters, 2018). For none of the studies in Africa, Asia, or South America was the reported study duration >5 years.



Duration of study (year)

Fig. 4. Monitoring frequency, duration of the monitoring, and the number of sampling sites for the reviewed studies. There is no clear trade-off between the number of sampling sites and sampling frequency or duration of the project. The number given in parentheses below the measurement frequency (y-axis) represents the number of studies. A \times is used to represent studies that did not provide information about the number of sampling sites.

For the studies using portable equipment there was a relation between the number of sampling sites and the duration of the project (Spearman rank correlation (r_s) = 0.56) but all projects lasted five years or less. There was also a relation between the number of sampling sites and the duration of the measurements for the benthic macroinvertebrate monitoring (r_s = 0.73). However, there was no overall relation between the monitoring frequency and the study duration (Fig. 4).

3.3. Training and data quality control

Many projects (76 % of all reviewed papers) reported the use of training sessions, where scientists or project leaders explain and show the sampling protocols (San Llorente Capdevila et al., 2020; Stepenuck and Genskow, 2018). These training sessions usually lasted a couple of hours or half a day. Some of these training sessions included field workshops (18 % of all studies, 24 % of all studies with training sessions), while others included written instructions or videos with the kits that were sent to the participants. In some cases (25 % of all studies with training sessions, e.g., the Fresh Water Watch project), participants were required to complete an online training session as part of the recruitment procedure before being able to be involved in the monitoring campaign.

The different data quality control procedures that were implemented included test measurements during the training sessions, supervision during data collection, cross-checked procedures, exclusion of questionable data, audits, or data comparison with lab measurements. For almost half of the reviewed papers (46 %), the data collected by the participants were compared with other data. This comparison included simultaneous measurements at the same sites by scientists or monitoring agencies (e.g. environmental protection agencies) (Fore et al., 2001; Thornhill et al., 2017; Valois et al., 2020; Valois et al., 2019), comparison of the measurements from the kits with laboratory analyses of samples (Lévesque et al., 2017; Quinlivan et al., 2020a; Xu et al., 2017), or comparison with gauge data or remote sensing measurements (Au et al., 2000; Bos et al., 2019; Canfield et al., 2002; Flores Rojas and Huamantinco Araujo, 2017; Fore et al., 2001; Herman-Mercer et al., 2018; Mitroi et al., 2020; Nicholson et al., 2002; Wilson et al., 2018).

4. Discussion

4.1. Evaluation of the different methods

The complexity of a water quality assessment is reflected in the diversity of approaches that were used in the reviewed papers. Selecting an approach is indeed a complex task. Every method has different advantages and disadvantages with regards to cost, logistical efforts, requirements for training, and the type and quality of data that can be obtained (Fig. 5). Developing



Requires a lot of training, logistical effort, expensive or poor accuracy/precision

Minimum training, logistical effort, cheap or good accuracy/precision

Method	Easiness/training	Costs	Accuracy	Precision	Logistics
Sample collection					
Visual assessment					
Test strips			\bigcirc		
Titration kits	\bigcirc			\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Portable equipment					
Secchi disk				\bigcirc	
Benthic macroinvertebrate monitoring	٠	\bigcirc		\bigcirc	

Fig. 5. Strengths and weaknesses of the water quality methods used in the reviewed studies based on our interpretation of the discussion sections of the reviewed papers. The category easiness/training considers if the method requires training as written instructions or a tutorial video (simple), one-two hours training in person, or if requires a half a day training, field workshops or follow up sessions (most difficult). Cost considers the price of the equipment and if the method uses tools that people can get by themselves (e.g. aquatic net or DIY Secchi disk; least expensive), to the price for monitoring kits (ranging from <100–200\$) and portable equipment (up to 1000–2000\$; most expensive), and logistics includes the effort required in terms of the distribution of equipment, preparation for training, shipment and handling of samples and waste handling, as well as data recording. Accuracy describes how close the measurements are to the true value (i.e., whether the measurements include a bias) and precision refers to the resolution of the measurements or specificity.

a monitoring strategy that provides accuracy but also covers a significant spatial scale to understand spatial variations in water quality and is repeated frequently enough to understand temporal variations in water quality is challenging.

Data quality (accuracy, reliability, and completeness) determines whether a dataset can be used for a specific purpose. In addition to participants' skills, training and sampling protocols, the technology and equipment are key factors that affect data quality (Ali et al., 2019; Quinlivan et al., 2020b). Traditional scientific methods have standardized protocols to ensure that the collected data meets specific standards. The lower precision of the equipment and simpler data quality control procedures used in citizen science projects are some of the main reasons why the scientific community and official monitoring agencies often question or distrust the data from citizen science projects (Hoyer and Canfield, 2021).

Each method has advantages and disadvantages (Fig. 5), which determine the feasibility of obtaining data at a high spatial and temporal resolution, and the accuracy of the data. This, in turn, determines for what types of analyses the data can be used.

Test strips (colorimetric method) are the most frequently used method in the reviewed papers (Fig. 3). The studies in which it was used describe it as a low-cost and easy-to-use method, which makes it particularly attractive for citizen science projects (Fig. 5). A significant difference between colorimetric measurements and measurements with sensors or laboratory analyses is the precision of the data (or sensitivity of the equipment used) (Fig. 5). Colorimetric measurements only provide ranges or classes of concentrations (Jollymore et al., 2017; Quinlivan et al., 2020b; Win et al., 2019). This significantly reduces the usefulness of the data when the differences in concentrations between sampling sites are small, or the variations in concentrations over time are low. In other words, the wide ranges or large classes mean that the measurements cannot be used to monitor small temporal changes in concentrations. There are often also problems with the detection of low concentrations. Typical ranges for nitrate test strips are, for example, five classes between 0.05 and 0.8 mg/L nitrate-nitrogen (SHMAK kit) or six classes between 0.2 to >10~mg/L(Kyoritsu Pack Test kit). Thus, although the colorimetric method is lowcost and easy use for almost anyone, the method is mainly useful to provide a baseline of water quality conditions (Ali et al., 2019; Quinlivan et al., 2020b,a; Win et al., 2019) or to find pollution hotspots (e.g., Thornhill et al., 2017; Ulloa et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2017). Other factors that affect the reliability of these data include the subjectivity in interpreting and choosing the concentration range by the participants (Quinlivan et al., 2020a). This can be reduced by using tools such as a mobile app, which does an automated reading and interpretation of the test strip's color (e.g., Win et al., 2019). The storage of the test strips may be an important factor that affects its accuracy as well (Win et al., 2019).

Titration kits are also relatively inexpensive and accessible (Fig. 5). Although their precision is slightly better and the data are considered more accurate than for test strips, it has some difficulties in its implementation (Fig. 5). Particularly for dissolved oxygen measurements, Safford and Peters (2018) highlight that the use of these kits requires specific training and knowledge about chemistry, and sample collection and handling as field conditions can affect the sample (e.g., exposing it to atmospheric oxygen, changes in temperature, etc.). The disposal of the chemicals is another challenge.

Although less frequently used, portable equipment or more sophisticated sensors lead to higher precision data (Fig. 5) that can be used to detect changes in water quality. The electrical conductivity sensors maintained by citizens in the study of Inserillo et al. (2017) successfully detected the first flush of solutes in response to tropical storm Sandy. However, the cost and complexity of portable equipment, such as multiparameter sensors, may be a limiting factor in terms of the number (and background) of participants that can contribute to a project, or the number of sites that can be monitored as budgets are often limited (Quinlivan et al., 2020b). In the study by Ho et al. (2020), 250 citizens used a Horiba U-50 Multiparameter Water Quality Meter and a Van Dorn water sampler for two years at seven rivers and streams in Hong Kong. Water temperature, pH, turbidity, and dissolved oxygen were measured and the accuracy of these measurements was compared against the measurements taken by project leaders who used a YSI-6820 multiparameter sonde. The authors highlight that some of the procedures and guidelines were considered very technical, forgotten, or not entirely followed by the participants, leading to some under or overestimation, especially for dissolved oxygen measurements. Water temperature and conductivity measurements were more comparable to the measurements of the project leaders. For turbidity, there was a better agreement when suspended solid concentrations were lower and participants used the Van Dorn sampler correctly (Ho et al., 2020). Other projects use DIY (do it yourself) sensors based on, for instance, Arduino loggers (e.g. Buytaert et al., 2014). While building these types of sensors is attractive to some people, the time investment to build the sensors and loggers, and to maintain them in outdoor conditions, may prevent widespread use of these types of sensors and thus the spatial resolution of the data.

For benthic macroinvertebrate monitoring, the taxonomic details are simplified and generalized for citizen scientists. Some authors have mentioned that the bias or error is mainly during taxonomic identification (Pinto et al., 2020). Generally, participants identify the aquatic fauna to the family, but not the species, level. Thus, the accuracy of these data is limited to a taxonomic richness assessment, which is helpful as a baseline monitoring, but not to determine specific impacts on water quality (Moffett and Neale, 2015).

Compared to other equipment, the Secchi disks are a low cost and simple tool that can be used at a wide range of spatial and temporal scales (Fig. 5). Secchi disk measurements have been taken by the general public for a long time. The procedures and tools are only slightly different from the measurements taken by scientists (Hoyer and Canfield, 2021; Lottig et al., 2014). Therefore, the accuracy and the quality of the data is more related to skill (or training) than the equipment. For example, Canfield et al. (2016) describe a 37-year dataset of Secchi disk depths at lakes in Maine in the United States. The authors point out that citizen's measurements have a higher precision than Landsat 5 and 7 satellite data and have been valuable to show trends in water transparency and eutrophication. Other studies have shown that with this equipment it is possible to have observations at large spatial scales. Lottig et al. (2014) looked at a 74-year dataset from >3000 lakes across the upper Midwest of the United States and identified long-term patterns at individual lakes and across regional scales.

The review also highlighted the use of qualitative or visual approaches for water quality assessment. The characteristics of the data obtained by these approaches differ from the studies examined in this review and therefore, these studies were not included in the database. However, people have historically paid attention to and described visual aspects (e.g., watercolor, or floating substances) of water quality (Firehock and West, 1995; Mitroi et al., 2020; Valois et al., 2020; Zheng et al., 2017), although these are not numeric or precise observations. People observe and analyze, for instance, turbidity, water clarity or watercolor (Harmsworth et al., 2011; Russell et al., 2020; Stenekes et al., 2020; Zheng et al., 2017), algae growth (Mitroi et al., 2020; Russell et al., 2020; Stenekes et al., 2020), the presence of vegetation or animals (Harmsworth et al., 2011; Russell et al., 2020; Stenekes et al., 2020), floating substances, such as litter and macroplastics (Tasseron et al., 2020; van Emmerik et al., 2020), and the smell of the water (Harmsworth et al., 2011; Townsend et al., 2004; Zheng et al., 2017). Other studies explored cultural (local/traditional/indigenous) knowledge and how this can complement water quality indicators from scientific or western science for water quality assessment (Gérin-Lajoie et al., 2018; Harmsworth et al., 2011; Russell et al., 2020, 2021; Scapini Sobczak et al., 2013). These observations are mostly based on human perceptions and lived experiences, such as visual assessments of water quality indicators (e.g., the water color, presence of algae, smell), and may integrate observations and knowledge to complement scientific measurements and can be useful for environmental management and policy making as well (Russell et al., 2021).

4.2. Spatial and temporal resolution of citizen science water quality data

To understand the quality of citizen science data and its possibilities and limitations, it is important to consider not only its accuracy and precision but also the spatial and temporal resolution of the data. One of our main findings is that there is a lack of discussion on how the monitoring strategies especially the spatial and temporal distribution and extent of the sampling, affects the value of the data for different purposes.

The spatial and temporal resolution of the data and the duration of the collected dataset affect how the data can be used. For example, Rich (2019) reports annual Secchi depth observations at 35 sampling sites for 13 years. This time period can potentially be sufficient to see trends due to land use or remediation efforts. Brooks et al. (2019) report biological monitoring at 1600 sampling sites across the United Kingdom over 10 years at a monthly time step, suggesting that it is possible to obtain high spatial resolution data that includes seasonal variations over a long time period. This temporal resolution can be sufficient to see changes in water quality during wet and dry periods, or due to snow melt. The spatial resolution is sufficient to see differences in water quality dynamics between different locations, but it may not be sufficient to detect sources of pollution within a specific catchment. Blitzes or snapshot campaigns with many measurements taken on the same day (e.g., Cunha et al., 2017a,b; Muenich et al., 2016) in a specific catchment may be more useful to detect water quality anomalies or sources of pollution in that catchment. However, if the sampling occurs only once or twice per year or only a few times, these measurements are less useful to detect any changes in water quality, either due to land use change or management, or due to changes in wetness conditions.

The heterogeneity of the waterbodies and the scale of the study area are important aspects of a monitoring strategy as well. For example, Miguel-Chinchilla et al. (2019) showed in their study that the catchment area had a considerably larger influence on turbidity than local site conditions. McGoff et al. (2017) and Loiselle et al. (2016) suggested that the size of the waterbody or the catchment size also impact the observed nutrient dynamics.

Many studies refer to participatory monitoring campaigns as a valuable approach to cover larger spatial or temporal scales than would otherwise be possible and thus to obtain more data. The average number of sampling sites for the reviewed studies where measurements were taken more than twice per year was 96, and the median was 24 (range: 4-1600) (Fig. 4). From a data collection perspective, this average value suggests a potential benefit of public participation in data collection to increase the spatial resolution of the data compared to what is possible for an individual researcher or monitoring agency. However, the idea that citizen science, is a low-cost strategy to cover large spatial or temporal scales is debated. Adapting techniques and protocols, recruiting and training participants and following up on the monitoring all require a significant time commitment. The economic costs and logistic efforts in terms of equipment can also be high and confront the idea that the involvement of the general public is a low-cost strategy to obtain data (Hadj-Hammou et al., 2017; Hegarty et al., 2021; McGoff et al., 2017).

Most of the reviewed papers did not explain how the sampling sites were chosen, but it appears that in many studies, the citizens chose the monitoring sites themselves. This self-selection allows participants to select sites that are accessible to them and reflects the participants' preferences, and in some cases, their motivations to participate (Jollymore et al., 2017). Some studies have shown that participants tend to choose sites close to their homes, but in other cases, the attractiveness of a waterbody also influences this selection (McGoff et al., 2017; Millar et al., 2018). Any form of self-selection may result in a spatial bias (Jollymore et al., 2017; Safford and Peters, 2018; Scott and Frost, 2017). McGoff et al. (2017) evaluated spatial sampling strategies by comparing the results obtained when participants self-select the sites and a stratified random sampling approach by scientists. The measurements were taken across different waterbodies (ponds, lakes, rivers and streams) and participants and scientists all used the same equipment (Kyoritsu Pack Test kit). With self-selection, participants covered fewer land uses (e.g., cities or crops), which led to a spatial bias that reduced the value of the data to understand

water quality dynamics (Hegarty et al., 2021; Millar et al., 2018). However, self-selection does not have to be a problem in all cases. Where data are collected to find pollution hotspots, it may be an advantage if participants select the monitoring locations, as they may have some knowledge of the catchment and potential sources of pollution.

Most reviewed papers did not report the monitoring frequency (Fig. 4). Some studies highlighted that participants usually take measurements during the spring or summer (Hadj-Hammou et al., 2017). Thus, there are periods of under-sampling, which raises the question of the potential value of the data, as water quality varies seasonally (e.g., Hadj-Hammou et al., 2017) and during events (e.g., Knapp et al., 2020). However, most of the reviewed papers that reported the monitoring frequency (38 %) obtained data at a monthly or twice per month interval (Fig. 4). This should allow for the detection of seasonal variations in water quality.

In addition to the measurement frequency, the weather conditions during the sampling campaigns are also important. If measurements are only made during sunny days, the effects of rainfall or storm events are not represented in the datasets. For example, Njue et al. (2021) reported that in addition to the accuracy of the equipment, another major limiting factor for the measurements of sediment concentrations was that participants do not go out to measure it during rainfall conditions. However, although unrelated to water quality, Etter et al. (2020) found that citizens report water level variations during both high and low flow conditions. Thus, if it is clear that the subject of interest varies with flow conditions, it is possible to motivate citizens to collect data over a range of conditions if the measurements are not very time consuming. Loiselle et al. (2016) highlights that for nutrient concentrations, an optimal sampling strategy should consider, in addition to the seasonality, also the first flush during rainfall events. Inserillo et al. (2017) (not included in the database because the keywords did not match) showed that with recording equipment (electrical conductivity sensors that were maintained by citizen scientists), such first flushes can be recorded at many different sites.

The project's duration determines whether it is possible to use citizen science data to assess trends in water quality. Most of the reviewed studies recorded data for less than five years. The most notable exception is Lottig et al. (2014), who present a 74 years dataset of Secchi depth observations in lakes. Indeed, water clarity is the aspect for which more long-term datasets are available (e.g., Boylen et al., 2004; Bruhn and Soranno, 2005; Canfield et al., 2016; Lottig et al., 2014; Rich, 2019). However, there are also longterm studies (more than a decade) on macroinvertebrates (Blake and Rhanor, 2020; Moffett and Neale, 2015) and physical-chemical water guality (Albus et al., 2019; Arrigo, 2011; Hoyer and Canfield, 2021; Křeček et al., 2018; Safford and Peters, 2018). Still, most of the reviewed studies cover a period of five years or shorter. One of the reasons for the relatively short duration of the reviewed studies is the requirement for sustained funding. Many projects seem to not last longer than one funding cycle. Furthermore, many projects only started recently and are still ongoing. It is likely that more peer-reviewed papers will be published from these studies in the coming years.

We expected a negative correlation between the number of monitoring locations and the temporal resolution of the data or the duration of the projects based on the assumption that there is a trade-off between the spatial and temporal sampling resolution or length of the project. This was based on the consideration of logistical challenges and costs, which would only allow one to have a high measurement frequency at a small number of locations or to sustain long-term measurements at a small number of locations, but not both. However, we did not find such a correlation (Fig. 4). This highlights the diverse nature of water quality citizen science projects in terms of the number of sampling sites and measurement frequency, and shows that a wide range of measurement methods can be used for citizen science projects.

5. Concluding remarks

This review paper focused on citizen science studies on surface water quality monitoring from a hydrological and data use perspective. The review highlights the high heterogeneity of monitoring approaches in terms of the methods used and the spatial and temporal scales and resolution of the data. The high heterogeneity in the monitoring approaches illustrates the potential to adapt citizen science projects to any socio-economic and environmental context. Contrary to our expectations, we did not find a relation between the spatial or temporal resolution of the data and the equipment that is used in the projects. Although most of the papers reported on studies that lasted between one to five years, the review also shows special cases with long-term datasets (e.g., 37 or 74 years), especially for water clarity.

The method or type of monitoring equipment used and the spatial and temporal resolution of the measurements affect the potential use of the data to understand water quality dynamics. Some equipment may require more training and is more expensive, thus limiting the number of participants and potentially also their background, but have a better accuracy and precision, which makes the data more valuable for some analyses. Other methods are low-cost and more user-friendly, allowing a greater and wider participation, but the data may not be precise enough for all analyses. For example, colorimetric test strips are the most widely used method to measure chemical water quality parameters because they are relatively simple to use and cheap. However, they only provide data for specific concentration ranges, which may limit the use of the data for trend detection or model calibration.

The increasing interest in citizen science for monitoring purposes (e.g., to monitor progress towards the sustainable development goals) requires that we do not only look at citizen science data from a data quality perspective but also assess the advantages and disadvantages of different monitoring strategies in terms of the value of the data for particular hydrological applications (e.g., the detection of pollution hotspots, changes in water quality, or water quality modeling). This includes guidelines on the minimum requirements for the data to be useful for water quality management or research. The heterogeneity of sampling approaches also indicates the need to develop guidelines and protocols to design comparable (but still flexible) citizen science water quality monitoring projects that can provide data that fit water quality monitoring standards (Quinlivan et al., 2020b).

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Sara Blanco Ramírez: Conceptualization, Methodology, Analysis, Writing – original draft, review & editing, Visualization.

Ilja van Meerveld: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing, review & editing, Supervision.

Jan Seibert: Writing - review & editing.

Funding

This research was funded by the Swiss National Science Foundation (project 192125, CrowdWater II).

Data availability

No data was used for the research described in the article.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare no competing interests. The authors are part of the CrowdWater project (www.crowdwater.ch), in which, so far, no quantitative water quality data are collected.

Acknowledgements

We thank to Tina Ovalle for help with the graphical abstract and Mirjam Scheller for help in creating Fig. 4. We thank to Kris Stepenuck and Thom Bogaard for sharing their experiences and the helpful and interesting discussions that we had on the different methods and sampling strategies discussed in this review.

Appendix 1. References of the 72 papers included in the review

Ali, J. M., Noble, B. C., Nandi, I., Kolok, A. S., & Bartelt-Hunt, S. L. (2019). Assessing the Accuracy of Citizen Scientist Reported Measurements for Agrichemical Contaminants. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* doi:https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b06707

Arrigo, J. S. (2011). Using Cooperative Water Quality Data for a Holistic Understanding of Rivers and Streams: A Study of the Neponset River. *The Professional Geographer*, *63*(3), 364–378. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/00330124.2011.566519

Au, J., Bagchi, P., Chen, B., Martinez, R., Dudley, S. A., & Sorger, G. J. (2000). Methodology for public monitoring of total coliforms, *Escherichia coli* and toxicity in waterways by Canadian high school students. *Journal of Environmental Management*, *58*(3), 213–230. doi:https://doi.org/10. 1006/jema.2000.0323

Blake, C., & Rhanor, A. K. (2020). The impact of channelization on macroinvertebrate bioindicators in small order Illinois streams: insights from long-term citizen science research. *Aquatic Sciences*, *82*, 35. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-020-0706-4

Bos, J. S., Nanayakkara, L., Hurlbert, M., & Finlay, K. (2019). Citizen science for Saskatchewan lakes: a pilot project. *Lake and Reservoir Management*. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/10402381.2018.1538172

Boylen, C. W., Howe, E. A., Bartkowski, J. S., & Eichler, L. W. (2004). Augmentation of a Long-term Monitoring Program for Lake George, NY by Citizen Volunteers, Lake and Reservoir Management. *Lake and Reservoir Management*, 20(2), 121–129. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/ 07438140409354356

Brooks, S. J., Fitch, B., Davy-Bowker, J., & Codesal, S. A. (2019). Anglers' Riverfly Monitoring Initiative (ARMI): A UK-wide citizen science project for water quality assessment. *The Society for Freshwater Science*. doi:https://doi.org/10.1086/703397

Bruhn, L. C., & Soranno, P. A. (2005). Long term (1974–2001) volunteer monitoring of water clarity trends in Michigan lakes and their relation to ecoregion and land use/cover. In *Lake and Reservoir Management* (Vol. 21, Issue 1, pp. 10–23).

Canfield, D. E., Bachmann, R. W., Stephens, D. B., Hoyer, M. V, Bacon, L., Williams, S., & Scott, M. (2016). Monitoring by citizen scientists demonstrates water clarity of Maine (USA) lakes is stable, not declining, due to cultural eutrophication. *Inland Waters*. doi:https://doi.org/10.5268/IW-6.1. 864

Canfield, D. E., Brown, C. D., Bachmann, R. W., & Hoyer, M. V. (2002). Volunteer lake monitoring: Testing the reliability of data collected by the Florida LAKEWATCH Program. *Lake and Reservoir Management*, *18*(1), 1–9. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/07438140209353924

Corey A. Krabbenhofta and Donna R. Kashian. (2020). Citizen science data are a reliable complement to quantitative ecological assessments in urban rivers. *Ecological Indicators*, *116*. https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/abs/pii/S1470160X20304131

Cunha, D. G. F., Casali, S. P., de Falco, P. B., Thornhill, I., & Loiselle, S. A. (2017). The contribution of volunteer-based monitoring data to the assessment of harmful phytoplankton blooms in Brazilian urban streams. *Science of the Total Environment*, *584–585*, 586–594. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2017.01.080

Cunha, D. G. F., Magri, R. A. F., Tromboni, F., Ranieri, V. E. L., Fendrich, A. N., Campanhão, L. M. B., Riveros, E. V., & Velázquez, J. A. (2019). Landscape patterns influence nutrient concentrations in aquatic systems: Citizen science data from Brazil and Mexico. *Freshwater Science*, *38*(2), 365–378. doi:https://doi.org/10.1086/703396

Deutsch, W. G., Busby, A. L., Orprecio, J. L., Bago-labis, J. P., & Cequiña, E. Y. (2000). Community-based Water Quality Monitoring: From Data Collection. *SEEKING SUSTAINABILITY*, 138–160.

Field-Juma, A., & Roberts-Lawler, N. (2021). Using Partnerships and Community Science to Protect Wild and Scenic Rivers in the Eastern United States. *Sustainability*, *13*, 2102. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/su13042102

Field-Juma, A., & Roberts-Lawler, N. (2021). Using Partnerships and Community Science to Protect Wild and Scenic Rivers in the Eastern United States. Sustainability, 13, 2102. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/su13042102

Flores Rojas, D., & Huamantinco Araujo, A. (2002). Desarrollo de una herramienta de vigilancia ambiental ciudadana basada en macroinvertebrados bentónicos en la cuenca del Jequetepeque (Cajamarca, Perú). *Ecología Aplicada*, *16*(2), 2017. doi:10.21704/rea.v16i2.1014

Flores-Díaz, A. C., Quevedo Chacón, A. I., Páez Bistrain, R., Isabel Ramírez, M., & Larrazábal, A. (2018). Community-Based Monitoring in Response to Local Concerns: Creating Usable Knowledge for Water Management in Rural Land. *Water*. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/w10050542

Fore, L. S., Paulsen, K., & O'laughlin, K. (2001). Assessing the performance of volunteers in monitoring streams. In *Freshwater Biology* (Vol. 46).

França, J. S., Solar, R., Hughes, R. M., & Callisto, M. (2019). Student monitoring of the ecological quality of neotropical urban streams. *Ambio*, 48. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-018-1122-z

García, C. E. R., & Brown, S. (2009). Assessing water use and quality through youth participatory research in a rural Andean watershed. *Journal of Environmental Management*, *90*(10), 3040–3047. doi:https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jenvman.2009.04.014

Gérin-Lajoie, J., Herrmann, T. M., Macmillan, G. A., Hébert-Houle, É., Monfette, M., Rowell, J. A., Soucie, T. A., Snowball, H., Townley, E., Lévesque, E., Amyot, M., Franssen, J., & Dedieu, J.-P. (2018). IMALIRIJIIT: a community-based environmental monitoring program in the George River watershed, Nunavik, Canada. *Écoscience*. doi:https://doi.org/10. 1080/11956860.2018.1498226

Hadj-Hammou, J., Loiselle, S., Ophof, D., & Thornhill, I. (2017). Getting the full picture: Assessing the complementarity of citizen science and agency monitoring data. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(12), 1–18. doi:https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pone.0188507

Hegarty, S., Hayes, A., Regan, F., Bishop, I., & Clinton, R. (2021). Using citizen science to understand river water quality while filling data gaps to meet United Nations Sustainable Development Goal 6 objectives. *Science of the Total Environment*, *783*, 146953. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2021.146953

Heiskary, S., Lindbloom, J., & Wilson, C. B. (1994). Detecting Water Quality Trends With Citizen Volunteer Data, Lake and Reservoir Management. *Lake and Reservoir Management*, *9*(1), 4–9. doi:https://doi.org/10. 1080/07438149409354714

Herman-Mercer, N., Antweiler, R., Wilson, N., Mutter, E., Toohey, R., & Schuster, P. (2018). Data Quality from a Community-Based, Water-Quality Monitoring Project in the Yukon River Basin. *Citizen Science: Theory and Practice*, *3*(2), 1. doi:https://doi.org/10.5334/cstp.123

Ho, S. Y. F., Xu, S. J., & Lee, F. W. F. (2020). Citizen science: An alternative way for water monitoring in Hong Kong. *PloS One*, *15*(9), e0238349. doi:https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0238349

Hoyer, M. V, & Canfield, D. E. (2021). Volunteer-collected water quality data can be used for science and management. *Lake and Reservoir Management*. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/10402381.2021.1876190

Křeček, J., Palán, L., Pažourková, E., & Stuchlík, E. (2018). Waterquality genesis in a mountain catchment affected by acidification and forestry practices. *The Society for Freshwater Science*. doi:https://doi.org/10. 1086/698533

Lévesque, D., Cattaneo, A., Deschamps, G., & Hudon, C. (2017). In the eye of the beholder: Assessing the water quality of shoreline parks around the Island of Montreal through citizen science. *Science of the Total Environment*, *579*, 978–988. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2016.10.175

Loiselle, S. A., Cunha, D. G. F., Shupe, S., Valiente, E., Rocha, L., Heasley, E., Belmont, P. P., & Baruch, A. (2016). Micro and macroscale drivers of nutrient concentrations in urban streams in South, Central and North America. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(9), 1–16. doi:https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0162684

Lottig, N. R., Wagner, T., Henry, N. N., Cheruvelil, S. S., & Webster, K. E. (2014). Long-Term Citizen-Collected Data Reveal Geographical Patterns and Temporal Trends in Lake Water Clarity. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(4), 95769. doi: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0095769

Markusic, J. S. (1991). Cost-Effective Monitoring Using Lay Volunteers on Shipshewana Lake. *Lake and Reservoir Management*, 7(1), 126–131. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/07438149109354263

McGoff, E., Dunn, F., Cachazo, L. M., Williams, P., Biggs, J., Nicolet, P., & Ewald, N. C. (2017). Finding clean water habitats in urban landscapes: professional researcher vs citizen science approaches. *Science of the Total Environment*, *581–582*(March), 105–116. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2016.11.215

Menon, N., George, G., Ranith, R., Sajin, V., Murali, S., Abdulaziz, A., Brewin, R. J. W., & Sathyendranath, S. (2021). Citizen Science Tools Reveal Changes in Estuarine Water Quality Following Demolition of Buildings. *Remote Sensing*, *13*, 1683. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/rs13091683

Metzger, E. S., & Lendvay, J. M. (2006). Commentary: Seeking environmental justice through public participation: A community-based water quality assessment in Bayview Hunters Point. *Environmental Practice*, 8(2), 104–114. doi:https://doi.org/10.1017/S1466046606060133

Miguel-Chinchilla, L., Heasley, E., Loiselle, S., & Thornhill, I. (2019). Local and landscape influences on turbidity in urban streams: A global approach using citizen scientists. *Freshwater Science*, *38*(2), 303–320. doi: https://doi.org/10.1086/703460

Millar, E. E., Hazell, E. C., & Melles, S. J. (2018). The "cottage effect" in citizen science? Spatial bias in aquatic monitoring programs. *International Journal of Geographical Information Science*. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/13658816.2018.1423686

Mitroi, V., Chrislain Ahi, K., Bulot, P.-Y., Tra, F., -Fré dé ric Deroubaix, J., Koffi Ahoutou, M., Quiblier, C., Koné, M., Coulibaly Kalpy, J., & ois Humbert, J.-F. I. (2020). Can participatory approaches strengthen the monitoring of cyanobacterial blooms in developing countries? Results from a pilot study conducted in the Lagoon Aghien (Ivory Coast). *PLOS ONE.* doi: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0238832

Moffett, E., & Neale, M. (2015). Volunteer and professional macroinvertebrate monitoring provide concordant assessments of stream health. *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research*. doi:https://doi.org/10. 1080/00288330.2015.1018913

Muenich, R. L., Peel, S., Bowling, L. C., Haas, M. H., Turco, R. F., Frankenberger, J. R., & Chaubey, I. (2016). The Wabash Sampling Blitz: A Study on the Effectiveness of Citizen Science. *Citizen Science: Theory and Practice*, *1*(1), 3. doi:https://doi.org/10.5334/cstp.1

Niamh O'Leary, A. Thomas Vawter, L. P. W. & M. P. (2004). Assessing Water Quality Using Two Taxonomic Levels of Benthic Macroinvertebrate Analysis: Implications for Volunteer Monitors. *Journal of Freshwater Ecology*, *19*(4), 581–586. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/02705060.2004. 9664738

Nicholson, E., Ryan, J., & Hodgkins, D. (2002). Community data -Where does the value lie? Assessing confidence limits of community collected water quality data. *Water Science and Technology*, *45*(11), 193–200. doi:https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2002.0395

Niinioja, R., Holopainen, A. L., Lepistö, L., Rämö, A., & Turkka, J. (2004). Public participation in monitoring programmes as a tool for lakeshore monitoring: The example of Lake Pyhäjärvi, Karelia, Eastern Finland. *Limnologica*, *34*(1–2), 154–159. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0075-9511(04)80035-5

Njue, Naomi, Gräf, J., Weeser, B., Rufino, M. C., Breuer, L., & Jacobs, S. R. (2021). Monitoring of Suspended Sediments in a Tropical Forested Landscape With Citizen Science. *Frontiers in Water*, *3*(June), 1–17. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/frwa.2021.656770

Obrecht, D. V, Milanick, M., Perkins, B. D., Ready & John, D., & Jones, R. R. (1998). Evaluation of Data Generated from Lake Samples Collected by Volunteers, Lake and Reservoir Management. *Lake and Reservoir Management*, *14*(1), 21–27. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/07438149809354106

Penningroth, S. M., Yarrow, M. M., Figueroa, A. X., Bowen, R. J., & Delgado, S. (2013). Features community-based risk assessment of water contamination from high-volume horizontal hydraulic fracturing. *NEW SO-LUTIONS*, 23(1), 137–166. doi:https://doi.org/10.2190/NS.23.1.i

Pérez-Belmont, P., Alvarado, J., Vázquez-Salvador, N., Rodríguez, E., Valiente, E., & Díaz, J. (2019). Water quality monitoring in the Xochimilco peri-urban wetland: Experiences engaging in citizen science. *Freshwater Science*, 38(2), 342–351. doi:https://doi.org/10.1086/703395

Pinto, P., Max, J., Oliveira-Junior, B., Leitão, F., Morais, M. M., Chícharo, L., Vaz, P., Delgado, S. M. A., Voreadou, C., Morales, E. A., Teodósio, M. A., & Vera Paz, R. (2020). Development of a Metric of Aquatic Invertebrates for Volunteers (MAIV): A Simple and Friendly Biotic Metric to Assess Ecological Quality of Streams. *Water*, *12*, 654. doi:https://doi.org/ 10.3390/w12030654

Quinlivan, L., Chapman, D. V., & Sullivan, T. (2020a). Validating citizen science monitoring of ambient water quality for the United Nations sustainable development goals. *Science of the Total Environment*, 699, 134255. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134255

Rae, M., Miró, A., Hall, J., O'Brien, K., & O'Brien, D. (2019). Evaluating the validity of a simple citizen science index for assessing the ecological status of urban drainage ponds. *Ecological Indicators*, *98*(August 2018), 1–8. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2018.10.053

Rich, M. W. (2019). Secchi Day: Bridging the Gap between Source and Tap. www.onecommunityar.org

Rivas, Y., Rivera, D., Gallardo, R., Lagos, E., Yevenes, M., Zambrano, F., & Mendoza, J. (2020). Water availability, quality, and use in rural communities of the Chilean Coastal Range. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation*, 75(1), 75–90. doi:https://doi.org/10.2489/jswc.75.1.75

Safford, H., & Peters, C. A. (2018). Citizen Science for Dissolved Oxygen Monitoring: Case Studies from Georgia and Rhode Island. *Environmental En*gineering Science. doi:https://doi.org/10.1089/ees.2017.0218

Sakai, N., Mohamad, Z. F., Nasaruddin, A., Abd Kadir, S. N., Mohd Salleh, M. S. A., & Sulaiman, A. H. (2018). Eco-Heart Index as a tool for community-based water quality monitoring and assessment. *Ecological Indicators*, *91*(November 2016), 38–46. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind. 2018.03.079

Savan, B., Morgan, A. J., Gore, C., & Candidate, P. D. (2003). PROFILE Volunteer Environmental Monitoring and the Role of the Universities: The Case of Citizens' Environment Watch. *Environmental Management*, *31*, 561–568. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-002-2897-y

Scott, A. B., & Frost, P. C. (2017). Monitoring water quality in Toronto's urban stormwater ponds: Assessing participation rates and data quality of water sampling by citizen scientists in the FreshWater Watch. *Science of the Total Environment*, *592*, 738–744. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2017.01.201

Sefton, D. F., Little, J. R., Hardin, J. A., & Hammel, & J. W. W. (1984). Volunteer lake monitoring: citizen action to improve lakes. *Lake and Reservoir Management*, 1(1), 473–477. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/07438148409354559

Shahady, T., & Boniface, H. (2018). Water quality management through community engagement in Costa Rica. *Journal of Environmental Studies and Sciences*. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s13412-018-0504-7

Shupe, S. M. (2017). High resolution stream water quality assessment in the Vancouver, British Columbia region: a citizen science study. *Science of the Total Environment*, 603–604, 745–759. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2017.02.195

Storey, R G, & Wright-Stow, A. (2017). Community-based monitoring of New Zealand stream macroinvertebrates: agreement between volunteer and professional assessments and performance of volunteer indices. *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research*. doi:https://doi.org/10. 1080/00288330.2016.1266674

Storey, Richard G, Wright-Stow, A., Kin, E., Davies-Colley, R. J., & Stott, R. (2016). Volunteer stream monitoring: Do the data quality and monitoring experience support increased community involvement in fresh-water decision making? *Ecology and Society*. doi:https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-08934-210432

Thornhill, I., Chautard, A., & Loiselle, S. (2018). Monitoring Biological and Chemical Trends in Temperate Still Waters Using Citizen Science. *Water*. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/w10070839

Thornhill, I., Ho, J. G., Zhang, Y., Li, H., Ho, K. C., Miguel-Chinchilla, L., & Loiselle, S. A. (2017). Prioritising local action for water quality improvement using citizen science; a study across three major metropolitan areas of China. Science of the Total Environment, 584–585, 1268–1281. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.01.200

Valois, A. E., Milne, J. R., Heath, M. W., Davies-Colley, R. J., Martin, E., & Stott, R. (2020). Community volunteer assessment of recreational water quality in the Hutt River, Wellington. *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research*, *54*(2), 200–217. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/00288330.2019.1700136

Valois, Amanda, Davies-Colley, R., Storey, R., Wright-Stow, A., Stott, R., Kin, E., & Van Hunen, S. (2019). Volunteer monitoring as a focus for community engagement in water management in Aotearoa-New Zealand: review and prospects. *IWA*. doi:https://doi.org/10.2166/ws.2018.116

Weyhenmeyer, G. A., MacKay, M., Stockwell, J. D., Thiery, W., Grossart, H. P., Augusto-Silva, P. B., Baulch, H. M., De Eyto, E., Hejzlar, J., Kangur, K., Kirillin, G., Pierson, D. C., Rusak, J. A., Sadro, S., & Woolway, R. I. (2017). Citizen science shows systematic changes in the temperature difference between air and inland waters with global warming. *Scientific Reports*, 7(November 2016), 1–9. doi:https://doi.org/10.1038/srep43890

Williams, J. E., Rummel, S., Lemon, J., Barney, M., Smith, K., Fesenmyer, K., & Schoen, J. (2016). Engaging a community of interest in water quality protection: Anglers monitoring wadeable streams. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation*, *71*(5). doi:https://doi.org/10.2489/jswc.71. 5.114A

Win, T. T. N., Bogaard, T., & van de Giesen, N. (2019). A low-cost water quality monitoring system for the Ayeyarwady River in Myanmar using a participatory approach. *Water*, *11*(10). doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/ w11101984

Xu, Y., Li, A. J., Qin, J., Li, Q., Ho, J. G., & Li, H. (2017). Seasonal patterns of water quality and phytoplankton dynamics in surface waters in Guangzhou and Foshan, China. *Science of the Total Environment, 590–591*, 361–369. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.02.032

Yardi, K. D., Bharucha, E., & Girade, S. (2019). Post-restoration monitoring of water quality and avifaunal diversity of Pashan Lake, Pune, India using a citizen science approach. *The Society for Freshwater Science*. doi:https://doi.org/10.1086/703440

Zhang, Y., Ma, R., Hu, M., Luo, J., Li, J., & Liang, Q. (2017). Combining citizen science and land use data to identify drivers of eutrophication in the Huangpu River system. *Science of the Total Environment*, *584–585*, 651–664. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.01.093

References

- Albus, K., Thompson, R., Mitchell, F., 2019. Usability of existing volunteer water monitoring data: what can the literature tell us? Citiz. Sci.: Theory Pract. 4 (1), 1–10. https://doi.org/ 10.5334/cstp.222.
- Ali, J.M., Noble, B.C., Nandi, I., Kolok, A.S., Bartelt-Hunt, S.L., 2019. Assessing the accuracy of citizen scientist reported measurements for agrichemical contaminants. Environ. Sci. Technol. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b06707.
- Arrigo, J.S., 2011. Using cooperative water quality data for a holistic understanding of Rivers and streams: A study of the Neponset River. Prof. Geogr. 63 (3), 364–378. https://doi. org/10.1080/00330124.2011.566519.
- Au, J., Bagchi, P., Chen, B., Martinez, R., Dudley, S.A., Sorger, G.J., 2000. Methodology for public monitoring of total coliforms, Escherichia coli and toxicity in waterways by Canadian high school students. J. Environ. Manag. 58 (3), 213–230. https://doi.org/10.1006/ jema.2000.0323.
- Bishop, I.J., Warner, S., Van Noordwijk, T.C.G.E., Nyoni, F.C., Loiselle, S., 2020. Citizen science monitoring for sustainable development goal indicator 6.3.2 in England and Zambia. Sustainability. https://doi.org/10.3390/su122410271.
- Blake, C., Rhanor, A.K., 2020. The impact of channelization on macroinvertebrate bioindicators in small order Illinois streams: insights from long-term citizen science research. Aquat. Sci. 82, 35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-020-0706-4.
- Bos, J.S., Nanayakkara, L., Hurlbert, M., Finlay, K., 2019. Citizen science for Saskatchewan lakes: a pilot project. Lake Reserv. Manag. https://doi.org/10.1080/10402381.2018. 1538172.
- Boylen, C.W., Howe, E.A., Bartkowski, J.S., Eichler, L.W., 2004. Augmentation of a Longterm monitoring program for Lake George, NY by citizen volunteers, lake and reservoir management. Lake Reserv. Manag. 20 (2), 121–129. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 07438140409354356.
- Brasier, K.J., Jalbert, K., Kinchy, A.J., Brantley, S.L., Unroe, C., 2017. Barriers to sharing water quality data: experiences from the Shale Network Barriers to sharing water quality data: experiences from the Shale Network. J. Environ. Plan. Manag. 60, 2103–2121. https:// doi.org/10.1080/09640568.2016.1276435.
- Brooks, S.J., Fitch, B., Davy-Bowker, J., Codesal, S.A., 2019. Anglers' Riverfly Monitoring Initiative (ARMI): a UK-wide citizen science project for water quality assessment. The Society for Freshwater Science https://doi.org/10.1086/703397.

- Bruhn, L.C., Soranno, P.A., 2005. Long term (1974-2001) volunteer monitoring of water clarity trends in Michigan lakes and their relation to ecoregion and land use/cover. Lake and Reservoir Management. Vol. 21, Issue 1, pp. 10–23.
- Buytaert, W., Zulkafli, Z., Grainger, S., Acosta, L., Alemie, T.C., Bastiaensen, J., De Bièvre, B., Bhusal, J., Clark, J., Dewulf, A., Foggin, M., Hannah, D.M., Hergarten, C., Isaeva, A., Karpouzoglou, T., Pandeya, B., Paudel, D., Sharma, K., Steenhuis, T., ... Zhumanova, M., 2014. Citizen science in hydrology and water resources: opportunities for knowledge generation, ecosystem service management, and sustainable development. Front. Earth Sci. 2 (October), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3389/feart.2014.00026.
- Canfield, D.E., Brown, C.D., Bachmann, R.W., Hoyer, M.V., 2002. Volunteer lake monitoring: testing the reliability of data collected by the Florida LAKEWATCH Program. Lake Reserv. Manag. 18 (1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1080/07438140209353924.
- Canfield, D.E., Bachmann, R.W., Stephens, D.B., Hoyer, M.V., Bacon, L., Williams, S., Scott, M., 2016. Monitoring by citizen scientists demonstrates water clarity of Maine (USA) lakes is stable, not declining, due to cultural eutrophication. Inland Waters https://doi. org/10.5268/IW-6.1.864.
- Conrad, C.C., Hilchey, K.G., Conrad, C.C., Hilchey, K.G., Branch, W., 2011. A review of citizen science and community-based environmental monitoring: issues and opportunities. Environ. Monit. Assess. 176, 273–291. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-010-1582-5.
- Cook, S., Abolfathi, S., Gilbert, N.I., 2021. Goals and approaches in the use of citizen science for exploring plastic pollution in freshwater ecosystems: a review. Freshw. Sci. 40 (4), 567–579. https://doi.org/10.1086/717227.
- Cunha, Davi G.F., Marques, J.F., De Resende, J.C., De Falco, P.B., De Souza, C.M., Loiselle, S.A., 2017b. Citizen science participation in research in the environmental sciences: key factors related to projects' success and longevity. An. Acad. Bras. Cienc. 3, 2229–2245. https://doi.org/10.1590/0001-3765201720160548.
- Cunha, Davi Gasparini, Fernandes, Casali, S. P., de Falco, P. B., Thornhill, I., & Loiselle, S. A., 2017a. The contribution of volunteer-based monitoring data to the assessment of harmful phytoplankton blooms in Brazilian urban streams. Sci. Total Environ. 584–585, 586–594. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.01.080.
- Deutsch, W.G., Ruiz-Córdova, S.S., 2015. Trends, challenges, and responses of a 20-year, volunteer water monitoring program in Alabama. Ecol. Soc. 20 (3). https://doi.org/10. 5751/ES-07578-200314.
- Eitzel, M.V., Cappadonna, J.L., Santos-Lang, C., Duerr, R.E., Virapongse, A., West, S.E., Kyba, C.C.M., Bowser, A., Cooper, C.B., Sforzi, A., Metcalfe, A.N., Harris, E.S., Thiel, M., Haklay, M., Ponciano, L., Roche, J., Ceccaroni, L., Shilling, F.M., Dörler, D., ... Jiang, Q., 2017. Citizen science terminology matters: exploring key terms. Citiz. Sci.: Theory Pract. 2 (1), 1. https://doi.org/10.5334/CSTP.96.
- Etter, S., Strobl, B., van Meerveld, I., Seibert, J., 2020. Quality and timing of crowd-based water level class observations. Hydrol. Process. 34 (22), 4365–4378. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/HYP.13864.
- Field-Juma, A., Roberts-Lawler, N., 2021. Using partnerships and community science to protect wild and scenic rivers in the eastern United States. Sustainability 13, 2102. https:// doi.org/10.3390/su13042102.
- Firehock, K., West, J., 1995. A brief history of volunteer biological water monitoring using macroinvertebrates. J. N. Am. Benthol. Soc. 14 (1), 197–202. https://doi.org/10.2307/ 1467734.
- Flores Rojas, D., Huamantinco Araujo, A., 2017. Desarrollo de una herramienta de vigilancia ambiental ciudadana basada en macroinvertebrados bentónicos en la cuenca del Jequetepeque (Cajamarca, Perú). Ecol. Apl. 16 (2), 2017. https://doi.org/10.21704/ rea.v16i2.1014.
- Flores-Díaz, A.C., Quevedo Chacón, A.I., Páez Bistrain, R., Isabel Ramírez, M., Larrazábal, A., 2018. Community-based monitoring in response to local concerns: creating usable knowledge for water management in rural land. Water. https://doi.org/10.3390/w10050542.Fore, L.S., Paulsen, K., O'laughlin, K., 2001. Assessing the performance of volunteers in mon-
- Forest, S.A., Holman, L., Murphy, M., Vermaire, J.C., 2019. Citizen science sampling programs
- Forrest, S.A., Hoiman, L., Murphy, M., Vermare, J.C., 2019. Citizen science sampling programs as a technique for monitoring microplastic pollution: results, lessons learned and recommendations for working with volunteers for monitoring plastic pollution in freshwater ecosystems. Environ. Monit. Assess. 191 (3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-019-7297-3.
- Fritz, S., See, L., Carlson, T., Haklay, M., Oliver, J.L., Fraisl, D., Mondardini, R., Brocklehurst, M., Shanley, L.A., Schade, S., Wehn, U., Abrate, T., Anstee, J., Arnold, S., Billot, M., Campbell, J., Espey, J., Gold, M., Hager, G., ... West, S., 2019. Citizen science and the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals. Nat. Sustain. 2 (10), 922–930. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41893-019-0390-3.
- Gérin-Lajoie, J., Herrmann, T.M., Macmillan, G.A., Hébert-Houle, É., Monfette, M., Rowell, J.A., Soucie, T.A., Snowball, H., Townley, E., Lévesque, E., Amyot, M., Franssen, J., Dedieu, J.-P., 2018. IMALIRJJIT: a community-based environmental monitoring program in the George River watershed, Nunavik, Canada. Écoscience https://doi.org/10. 1080/11956860.2018.1498226.
- Hadj-Hammou, J., Loiselle, S., Ophof, D., Thornhill, I., 2017. Getting the full picture: assessing the complementarity of citizen science and agency monitoring data. PLoS ONE 12 (12), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0188507.
- Harmsworth, G., Young, R., Walker, D., Clapcott, J., James, T., 2011. Linkages between cultural and scientific indicators of river and stream health. N. Z. J. Mar. Freshw. Res. https://doi.org/10.1080/00288330.2011.570767.
- Hegarty, S., Hayes, A., Regan, F., Bishop, I., Clinton, R., 2021. Using citizen science to understand river water quality while filling data gaps to meet United Nations Sustainable Development Goal 6 objectives. Sci. Total Environ. 783, 146953. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146953.
- Herman-Mercer, N., Antweiler, R., Wilson, N., Mutter, E., Toohey, R., Schuster, P., 2018. Data quality from a community-based, water-quality monitoring project in the Yukon River Basin. Citiz. Sci.: Theory Pract. 3 (2), 1. https://doi.org/10.5334/cstp.123.
- Ho, S.Y.F., Xu, S.J., Lee, F.W.F., 2020. Citizen science: an alternative way for water monitoring in Hong Kong. PLoS ONE 15 (9), e0238349. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0238349.

- Hoyer, M.V., Canfield, D.E., 2021. Volunteer-collected water quality data can be used for science and management. Lake Reserv. Manag. https://doi.org/10.1080/10402381.2021. 1876190.
- Hoyer, M.V., Wellendorf, N., Frydenborg, R., Bartlett, D., Canfield, D.E., 2012. A comparison between professionally (Florida Department of Environmental Protection) and volunteer (Florida LAKEWATCH) collected trophic state chemistry data in Florida. Lake Reserv. Manag. https://doi.org/10.1080/07438141.2012.736016.
- Inserillo, E.A., Green, M.B., Shanley, J.B., Boyer, J.N., 2017. Comparing catchment hydrologic response to a regional storm using specific conductivity sensors. Hydrol. Process. 31 (5), 1074–1085. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.11091.
- Jalbert, K., Kinchy, A.J., 2015. Sense and influence: environmental monitoring tools and the power of citizen science. J. Environ. Policy Plan. https://doi.org/10.1080/1523908X. 2015.1100985.
- Jalbert, K., Kinchy, A.J., Perry, S.L., 2014. Civil society research and Marcellus shale natural gas development: results of a survey of volunteer water monitoring organizations. J. Environ. Stud. Sci. 4 (1), 78–86. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13412-013-0155-7.
- Jollymore, A., Haines, M.J., Satterfield, T., Johnson, M.S., 2017. Citizen science for water quality monitoring: data implications of citizen perspectives. J. Environ. Manag. 200 (November), 456–467. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.05.083.
- Kimura, A.H., Kinchy, A., 2016. Citizen science: probing the virtues and contexts of participatory research. Technol. Soc. 2, 331–361. https://doi.org/10.17351/ests2016.099.
- Kinchy, A., Jalbert, K., Lyons, J., 2014. What is volunteer water monitoring good for? Fracking and the plural logics of participatory science. Political Power Soc. Theory 27, 259–289. https://doi.org/10.1108/S0198-871920140000027017.
- Kinchy, A., Parks, S., Jalbert, K., 2016. Fractured knowledge: mapping the gaps in public and private water monitoring efforts in areas affected by shale gas development. Environ. Plan. C: Gov. Policy https://doi.org/10.1177/0263774X15614684.
- Knapp, J.L.A., Von Freyberg, J., Studer, B., Kiewiet, L., Kirchner, J.W., 2020. Concentration Discharge Relationships Vary Among Hydrological Events, Reflecting Differences in Event Characteristics. pp. 2561–2576.
- Krabbenhofta, Corey A., Kashian, Donna R., 2020. Citizen science data are a reliable complement to quantitative ecological assessments in urban rivers. Ecol. Indic. 116. https:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1470160X20304131.
- Křeček, J., Palán, L., Pažourková, E., Stuchlík, E., 2018. Water-quality genesis in a mountain catchment affected by acidification and forestry practices. The Society for Freshwater Science https://doi.org/10.1086/698533.
- Lévesque, D., Cattaneo, A., Deschamps, G., Hudon, C., 2017. In the eye of the beholder: assessing the water quality of shoreline parks around the Island of Montreal through citizen science. Sci. Total Environ. 579, 978–988. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv. 2016.10.175.
- Loiselle, S.A., Cunha, D.G.F., Shupe, S., Valiente, E., Rocha, L., Heasley, E., Belmont, P.P., Baruch, A., 2016. Micro and macroscale drivers of nutrient concentrations in urban streams in South, Central and North America. PLoS ONE 11 (9), 1–16. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0162684.
- Loperfido, J.V., Beyer, Pieter, Just, Craig L., J. L. S., 2010. Uses and biases of volunteer water quality data. Environ. Sci. Technol. https://doi.org/10.1021/es100164c.
- Lottig, N.R., Wagner, T., Henry, N.N., Cheruvelil, S.S., Webster, K.E., 2014. Long-term citizencollected data reveal geographical patterns and temporal trends in lake water clarity. PLoS ONE 9 (4), 95769. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0095769.
- Mccauley, J., 2017. We can help the people who can make a difference. Sociol. Focus 50 (2), 125–137. https://doi.org/10.1080/00380237.2017.1251748.
- McGoff, E., Dunn, F., Cachazo, L.M., Williams, P., Biggs, J., Nicolet, P., Ewald, N.C., 2017. Finding clean water habitats in urban landscapes: professional researcher vs citizen science approaches. Sci. Total Environ. 581–582 (March), 105–116. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scitotenv.2016.11.215.
- Menon, N., George, G., Ranith, R., Sajin, V., Murali, S., Abdulaziz, A., Brewin, R.J.W., Sathyendranath, S., 2021. Citizen science tools reveal changes in estuarine water quality following demolition of buildings. Remote Sens. 13, 1683. https://doi.org/10.3390/ rs13091683.
- Metcalfe, A.N., Kennedy, T.A., Mendez, G.A., Muehlbauer, J.D., 2022. Applied citizen science in freshwater research. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Water 9 (2), 1–11. https://doi.org/10. 1002/wat2.1578.
- Metzger, E.S., Lendvay, J.M., 2006. Commentary: Seeking environmental justice through public participation: A community-based water quality assessment in Bayview Hunters Point. Environ. Pract. 8 (2), 104–114. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1466046606060133.
- Miguel-Chinchilla, L., Heasley, E., Loiselle, S., Thornhill, I., 2019. Local and landscape influences on turbidity in urban streams: a global approach using citizen scientists. Freshw. Sci. 38 (2), 303–320. https://doi.org/10.1086/703460.
- Millar, E.E., Hazell, E.C., Melles, S.J., 2018. The "cottage effect" in citizen science? Spatial bias in aquatic monitoring programs. Int. J. Geogr. Inf. Sci. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 13658816.2018.1423686.
- Mitroi, V., Chrislain Ahi, K., Bulot, P.-Y., Tra, F., Frédéric Deroubaix, J., Koffi Ahoutou, M., Quiblier, C., Koné, M., Coulibaly Kalpy, J., ois Humbert, J.-F.I., 2020. Can participatory approaches strengthen the monitoring of cyanobacterial blooms in developing countries? Results from a pilot study conducted in the Lagoon Aghien (Ivory Coast). PLoS ONE https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0238832.
- Moffett, E., Neale, M., 2015. Volunteer and professional macroinvertebrate monitoring provide concordant assessments of stream health. N. Z. J. Mar. Freshw. Res. https://doi. org/10.1080/00288330.2015.1018913.
- Muenich, R.L., Peel, S., Bowling, L.C., Haas, M.H., Turco, R.F., Frankenberger, J.R., Chaubey, I., 2016. The Wabash sampling blitz: A study on the effectiveness of citizen science. Citiz. Sci.: Theory Pract. 1 (1), 3. https://doi.org/10.5334/cstp.1.
- Nardi, F., Cudennec, C., Abrate, T., Allouch, C., Annis, A., Assumpção, T., Aubert, A.H., Bérod, D., Braccini, A.M., Buytaert, W., Dasgupta, A., Hannah, D.M., Mazzoleni, M., Polo, M.J., Saebø, Ø., Seibert, J., Tauro, F., Teichert, F., Teutonico, R., ... Vargas, C.W., 2021. Citizens AND HYdrology (CANDHY): conceptualizing a transdisciplinary framework for citizen

S.B. Ramírez et al.

science addressing hydrological challenges. Hydrol. Sci. J. https://doi.org/10.1080/02626667.2020.1849707.

- Nicholson, E., Ryan, J., Hodgkins, D., 2002. Community data where does the value lie? Assessing confidence limits of community collected water quality data. Water Sci. Technol. 45 (11), 193–200. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2002.0395.
- Njue, N., Stenfert Kroese, J., Gräf, J., Jacobs, S.R., Weeser, B., Breuer, L., Rufino, M.C., 2019. Citizen science in hydrological monitoring and ecosystem services management: state of the art and future prospects. Sci. Total Environ. 693. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv. 2019.07.337.
- Njue, Naomi, Gräf, J., Weeser, B., Rufino, M.C., Breuer, L., Jacobs, S.R., 2021. Monitoring of suspended sediments in a tropical forested landscape with citizen science. Front. Water 3 (June), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3389/frwa.2021.656770.
- Penrose, D., Call, S.M., 1995. Volunteer monitoring of benthic macroinvertebrates : regulatory biologists' perspectives. J. N. Am. Benthol. Soc. 14 (1), 203–209.
- Pinto, P., Max, J., Oliveira-Junior, B., Leitão, F., Morais, M.M., Chícharo, L., Vaz, P., Delgado, S.M.A., Voreadou, C., Morales, E.A., Teodósio, M.A., Vera Paz, R., 2020. Development of a metric of aquatic invertebrates for volunteers (MAIV): A simple and friendly biotic metric to assess ecological quality of streams. Water 12, 654. https://doi.org/10.3390/ w12030654.
- Quinlivan, L., Chapman, D.V., Sullivan, T., 2020a. Validating citizen science monitoring of ambient water quality for the United Nations sustainable development goals. Sci. Total Environ. 699, 134255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134255.
- Quinlivan, L., Chapman, D.V., Sullivan, T., 2020b. Applying citizen science to monitor for the Sustainable Development Goal Indicator 6.3.2: a review. Environ. Monit. Assess. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10661-020-8193-6.
- Rae, M., Miró, A., Hall, J., O'Brien, K., O'Brien, D., 2019. Evaluating the validity of a simple citizen science index for assessing the ecological status of urban drainage ponds. Ecol. Indic. 98 (August 2018), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2018.10.053.
- Rambonnet, L., Vink, S.C., Land-Zandstra, A.M., Bosker, T., 2019. Making citizen science count: best practices and challenges of citizen science projects on plastics in aquatic environments. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 145 (May), 271–277. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul. 2019.05.056.
- Rech, S., Macaya-Caquilpán, V., Pantoja, J.F., Rivadeneira, M.M., Kroeger Campodónico, C., Thiel, M., 2015. Sampling of riverine litter with citizen scientists-findings and recommendations. Environ. Monit. Assess. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-015-4473-y.
- Rich, M.W., 2019. Secchi Day: Bridging the Gap Between Source and Tap. www. onecommunityar.org.
- Riesch, H., Potter, C., 2014. Citizen science as seen by scientists: methodological, epistemological and ethical dimensions. Public Underst. Sci. 23 (1), 107–120. https://doi.org/10. 1177/0963662513497324.
- Rivas, Y., Rivera, D., Gallardo, R., Lagos, E., Yevenes, M., Zambrano, F., Mendoza, J., 2020. Water availability, quality, and use in rural communities of the Chilean Coastal Range. J. Soil Water Conserv. 75 (1), 75–90. https://doi.org/10.2489/jswc.75.1.75.
- Rose, N.L., Turner, S.D., Goldsmith, B., Gosling, L., Davidson, T.A., 2016. Quality control in public participation assessments of water quality: the OPAL Water Survey. BMC Ecol. 16 (1), 14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12898-016-0063-2.
- Russell, S., Ens, E., Rangers, N.Y., 2020. "We don't want to drink that water": cross-cultural indicators of billabong water quality in remote Indigenous Australia. Mar. Freshw. Res. 71 (10), 1221–1233. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF19305.
- Russell, S., Ens, E., Rangers, N.Y., 2021. "Now it's not a billabong" eco-cultural assessment of billabong condition in remote northern Australia. Mar. Freshw. Res. 72 (7), 925–941. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF20080.
- Safford, H., Peters, C.A., 2018. Citizen science for dissolved oxygen monitoring: case studies from Georgia and Rhode Island. Environ. Eng. Sci. https://doi.org/10.1089/ees.2017. 0218.
- San Llorente Capdevila, A., Kokimova, A., Sinha Ray, S., Avellán, T., Kim, J., Kirschke, S., 2020. Success factors for citizen science projects in water quality monitoring. Sci. Total Environ. 728. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137843.
- Scapini Sobczak, J.R., Valduga, A.T., Restello, R.M., Cardoso, R.I., Hepp, L.U., Siqueira, A.B., 2013. Local ecological knowledge as a complementary basis for the management of water resources. Ethnobiol. Conserv. 2 (2013). https://doi.org/10.15451/42.
- Scott, A.B., Frost, P.C., 2017. Monitoring water quality in Toronto's urban stormwater ponds: assessing participation rates and data quality of water sampling by citizen scientists in the FreshWater Watch. Sci. Total Environ. 592, 738–744. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2017.01.201.

- Sefton, D.F., Little, J.R., Hardin, J.A., Hammel, & J. W. W., 1984. Volunteer lake monitoring: citizen action to improve lakes. Lake Reserv. Manag. 1 (1), 473–477. https://doi.org/10. 1080/07438148409354559.
- Shahady, T., Boniface, H., 2018. Water quality management through community engagement in Costa Rica. J. Environ. Stud. Sci. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13412-018-0504-7.
- Shirk, J.L., Ballard, H.L., Wilderman, C.C., Phillips, T., Wiggins, A., Jordan, R., McCallie, E., Minarchek, M., Lewenstein, B.V., Krasny, M.E., Bonney, R., 2012. Public participation in scientific research: a framework for deliberate design. Ecol. Soc. 17 (2). https://doi. org/10.5751/ES-04705-170229 Published Online: Jun 27, 2012 | Doi:10.5751/ES-04705-170229.
- Stenekes, S., Parlee, B., Seixas, C., 2020. Culturally driven monitoring: the importance of traditional ecological knowledge indicators in understanding aquatic ecosystem change in the Northwest Territories' Dehcho Region. Sustainability. https://doi.org/10.3390/ su12197923.
- Stepenuck, K.F., Genskow, K.D., 2018. Characterizing the breadth and depth of volunteer water monitoring programs in the United States. Environ. Manag. 61, 46–57. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00267-017-0956-7.
- Strasser, B.J., Baudry, J., Mahr, D., Sanchez, G., Tancoigne, E., 2018. "Citizen Science"? Rethinking Science and Public Participation.
- Tasseron, P., Zinsmeister, H., Rambonnet, L., Hiemstra, A.F., Siepman, D., van Emmerik, T., 2020. Plastic hotspot mapping in urban water systems. Geosciences (Switzerland) 10 (9), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3390/geosciences10090342.
- Thornhill, I., Ho, J.G., Zhang, Y., Li, H., Ho, K.C., Miguel-Chinchilla, L., Loiselle, S.A., 2017. Prioritising local action for water quality improvement using citizen science; a study across three major metropolitan areas of China. Sci. Total Environ. 584–585, 1268–1281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.01.200.
- Townsend, C.R., Tipa, G., Teirney, L.D., Niyogi, D.K., 2004. Development of a tool to facilitate participation of Maori in the management of stream and river health. EcoHealth 1 (2), 184–195. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10393-004-0006-9.
- Ulloa, A., Godfrid, J., Damonte, G., Quiroga, C., López, A.P., 2020. Monitoreos hídricos comunitarios: conocimientos locales como defensa territorial y ambiental en Argentina, Perú y Colombia. Íconos - Revista de Ciencias Sociales. XXV(69), pp. 77–97. https:// doi.org/10.17141/iconos.69.2021.4489.
- Valois, A.E., Milne, J.R., Heath, M.W., Davies-Colley, R.J., Martin, E., Stott, R., 2020. Community volunteer assessment of recreational water quality in the Hutt River, Wellington. N. Z. J. Mar. Freshw. Res. 54 (2), 200–217. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 00288330.2019.1700136.
- Valois, Amanda, Davies-Colley, R., Storey, R., Wright-Stow, A., Stott, R., Kin, E., Van Hunen, S., 2019. Volunteer monitoring as a focus for community engagement in water management in Aotearoa-New Zealand: review and prospects. IWA. https://doi.org/10.2166/ws.2018.116.
- van Emmerik, T., Seibert, J., Strobl, B., Etter, S., den Oudendammer, T., Rutten, M., bin Ab Razak, M.S., van Meerveld, I., 2020. Crowd-based observations of riverine macroplastic pollution. Front. Earth Sci. 8 (August), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/feart.2020.00298.
- Vázquez, L.S., 2019. ¿Ciencia de resistencia? Monitoreos ambientales participativos en contextos de conflicto ambiental. Reflexiones desde una mirada decolonial. Revista de Paz y Conflictos 12, 57–79.
- Walker, D.W., Smigaj, M., Tani, | Masakazu., 2020. The benefits and negative impacts of citizen science applications to water as experienced by participants and communities. WIREs Water https://doi.org/10.1002/wat2.1488.
- Wilson, N.J., Mutter, E., Inkster, J., Satterfield, T., 2018. Community-based monitoring as the practice of Indigenous governance : a case study of Indigenous-led water quality monitoring in the Yukon River Basin. J. Environ. Manag. 210, 290–298. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jenvman.2018.01.020.
- Win, T.T.N., Bogaard, T., van de Giesen, N., 2019. A low-cost water quality monitoring system for the Ayeyarwady River in Myanmar using a participatory approach. Water 11 (10). https://doi.org/10.3390/w11101984.
- Xu, Y., Li, A.J., Qin, J., Li, Q., Ho, J.G., Li, H., 2017. Seasonal patterns of water quality and phytoplankton dynamics in surface waters in Guangzhou and Foshan, China. Sci. Total Environ. 590–591, 361–369. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.02.032.
- Zhang, Y., Ma, R., Hu, M., Luo, J., Li, J., Liang, Q., 2017. Combining citizen science and land use data to identify drivers of eutrophication in the Huangpu River system. Sci. Total Environ. 584–585, 651–664. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.01.093.
- Zheng, H., Hong, Y., Long, D., Jing, H., 2017. Monitoring surface water quality using social media in the context of citizen science. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. 21 (2), 949–961. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-21-949-2017.